UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

THE STATE OF TEXAS;

THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT;

THE STATE OF OHIO;

THE STATE OF ALABAMA;

THE STATE OF ALASKA;

THE TERRITORY OF AMERICAN SAMOA;
THE STATE OF ARIZONA;

THE STATE OF ARKANSAS;

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA;

THE STATE OF COLORADO;

THE STATE OF DELAWARE;

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA;

THE STATE OF FLORIDA;

THE STATE OF GEORGIA;

THE TERRITORY OF GUAM;

THE STATE OF HAWAII;

THE STATE OF IDAHO;

THE STATE OF ILLINOIS; :
THE STATE OF INDIANA; i ) CASHIERS
THE STATE OF IOWA;

THE STATE OF KANSAS;

THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY;
THE STATE OF LOUISIANA;

THE STATE OF MAINE;

THE STATE OF MARYLAND;

THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS;
THE STATE OF MICHIGAN;

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI;

THE STATE OF MISSOURI;

THE STATE OF MONTANA;

THE STATE OF NEBRASKA;

THE STATE OF NEVADA;

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE;

THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY;

THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO;

THE STATE OF NEW YORK;

THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA;

THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA;

THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE NORTHERN
MARIANA ISLANDS;

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA;

THE STATE OF OREGON;

THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA;
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THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO;
THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND;

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA;

THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA;

THE STATE OF TENNESSEE;

THE STATE OF UTAH;

THE STATE OF VERMONT;

THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA;
THE TERRITORY OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS;
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON;

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA;

THE STATE OF WISCONSIN;

THE STATE OF WYOMING Civil Action No.

Plaintiffs,

HACHETTE BOOK GROUP, INC,;
HARPERCOLLINS PUBLISHERS, LLC.;
SIMON & SCHUSTER, INC.; and

SIMON & SCHUSTER DIGITAL SALES, INC.

Defendants.
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COMPLAINT
The above-captioned States, Commonwealths, Territories and Possessions (the “Plaintiff
States™), by and through their Attorneys General, bring this action in their sovereign capacity
against Hachette Book Group, Inc. (“Hachette”), HarperCollins Publishers, LL.C
(“HarperCollins”), Simon & Schuster, Inc. and Simon & Schuster Digital Sales, Inc. (“the
Defendants™) for injunctive relief and for damages as parens patriae on behalf of natural persons
who purchased E-books from Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States

and allege as follows:



I. SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT

l. As a result of facts learned during a non-public investigation begun by the States
of Texas and Connecticut in 2010, the Plaintiff States charge the Defendants with entering into
contracts, combinations, and conspiracies that restrain trade.

2. Specifically, by the end of summer 2009 at the latest, the Defendants, together
with other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States, entered into an agreement to raise the
retail price of electronic books (“E-books™). In furtherance of this conspiracy, by mid-December
2009, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States agreed to delay
publication of certain frontlist E-books for several months following each book’s first printed
release. In the publishing industry, this practice is known as “Windowing.” The Defendants and
others viewed this collective Windowing as providing them with enhanced bargaining power
with which they could negotiate higher retail prices from Amazon and other distribution outlets
(“E-book Outlets or Outlets”).

3. No later than January 2010, seizing an opportunity that arose in connection with
the entry of Apple, Inc. (“Apple”) into the E-book market, the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States conspired and agreed to increase retail E-book prices
for all consumers. The conspirators’ plan had two components. First, the Defendants and other
co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States would shift their market-wide distribution model for
E-books from a distribution model under which E-book Outlets such as Amazon or Barnes &
Noble would set retail E-book prices and sell E-books directly to consumers (the “Wholesale-
Retail Model”) to a model in which publishers would set retail E-book prices and sell E-books
directly to consumers (the “Agency Model”). Second, the Defendants and other co-conspirators

known to the Plaintiff States would then raise E-book retail prices.



4, As a result of their conspiracy, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to
the Plaintiff States agreed to eliminate E-book retail price competition between E-book Outlets,
such that retail prices to consumers would be thé same regardless of the Outlet patronized by the
consumer. The Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States increased E-
book retail prices pursuant to this illegal agreement beginning on April 1, 2010.

5. As aresult of the conspiracy, consumers nationwide, in aggregate, paid millions
of dollars in overcharges on E-books.

I1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has jurisdiction over this action under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. § 1, Sections 4c and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15¢ and 26, and under 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331 and 1337. This case is related to MDL litigation currently pending before this Court
captioned The State of Texas et al. v. Penguin Group (USA) Inc., et al., (In Re Electronic Books
Antitrust Litigation), 1:12-CV-03394 (DLC).

7. This Court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because they
have principal places of business within the Southern District of New York and sell E-books to
consumers residing in the Southern District of New York.

8. Venue is proper in this district under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §
22, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)-(c). The Defendants may be found and transact business within the
Southern District of New York.

III. THE PARTIES

9. The Attorneys General of the Plaintiff States are the chief legal officers for their
respective states and commonwealths. They are granted authority under federal antitrust law to
bring actions for injunctive relief and as parens patriae on behalf of consumers, and under the

laws of their respective states to bring actions to ensure compliance with their state laws and to

4



enjoin violations of state law.

10.  Defendant Hachette Book Group, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at 237 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10017.

11.  Defendant HarperCollins Publishers LLC is a Delaware limited liability company
with its principal place of business at 10 East 53 Street, New York, NY 10022.

12. Defendant Simon & Schuster, Inc. is a New York corporation with its principal
place of business at 1230 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York, 10020. Defendant
Simon & Schuster Digital Sales, Inc. is a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Simon & Schuster, Inc., with its principal place of business at the same address as its parent.
For purposes of the Complaint, Simon & Schuster, Inc. and Simon & Schuster Digital Sales, Inc.
are referred to collectively as “Simon & Schuster.”

1V. FACTS SUPPORTING THE LEGAL CLAIMS

A. Book Sales: An Overview

13.  Publishers work with authors to bring books to market in a variety of printed and
other formats, including hardcover, trade paperback and mass market paperback.

14. The American publishing industry is dominated by six Manhattan-based
publishers: Hachette, HarperCollins, Simon & Schuster, Penguin Group, Holtzbrinck Publishers
LLC, (which does business as Macmillan) and Random House, Inc. (the “Big Six”). For
decades, the Big Six or their predecessors have served as authors’ primary intermediaries to
secure widespread retail print distribution and marketing.

15.  Publishers generally sell printed books to retailers on a Wholesale-Retail Model.
In the Wholesale-Retail Model, publishers set a list price for the printed book and a discount
percentage from the list price for a particular Outlet. The list price minus the amount discounted

is the wholesale price of the printed book. For example, a hardcover book with a list price of
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$30.00 that has a discount off list of 50% has a wholesale price of $15.00.

16.  Once the books are received by the Outlets, the Outlets place printed books into
their inventories for storage, set retail prices for these books, and sell them directly to consumers.

17. Publishers divide their catalogues between frontlist and backlist titles. Frontlist
titles refer to the publishers’ most recently released titles. Depending on the publisher, it usually
refers to titles released within the past seven months to the past year. Backlist titles comprise the
remainder of the publishers’ catalogues.

18. E-books are electronic versions of books. Generally, the Big Six provide a
printed edition of a title simultaneously with the E-book. Consumers can read E-books on a
variety of electronic devices, including cellular phones, personal computers, tablet computers,
and devices dedicated solely to reading E-books.

19. Despite their availability for approximately two decades, E-books have only
recently become a commercially-viable mainstream market. Between 2007 and 2011, E-books’
share of all titles sold in the United States grew from under 2% to approximately 25%. In 2010,
approximately 114 million E-books were sold, and E-book sales hit $441.3 million.

20. Historically, as with printed book distribution, an E-book Outlet would pay the
publisher a wholesale price for each E-book sold. The wholesale price was calculated by
subtracting a discounted amount from the digital list price. For example, if an E-book had a
digital list price of $26.00 and a discount of 50%, the wholesale price was $13.00. The Outlet,
functioning as a retailer.: would then set the retail price of the E-book.

21. By 2009, Amazon accounted for the vast majority of the publishers’ E-book sales.
In the fall of 2007, shortly after releasing the Kindle, Amazon publicly committed to sell New
York Times (“NYT”) bestseller E-books to consumers for $9.99, a retail price point popular with

consumers. This low price point helped make it attractive for consumers to switch from
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purchasing print books to purchasing E-books.

22.  As the leading E-book retailer, Amazon’s $9.99 pricing policy for NYT bestseller
E-books stoked intense competition among E-book retailers as its rivals priced at or near
Amazon’s price point to remain competitive. As a result, prior to January 2010, consumers
could generally purchase NYT bestseller E-books for $9.99 contemporaneously with hardcover
releases.

B. The Defendants and Co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States Agree that NYT
Bestseller E-book Prices Must Rise from $9.99

23.  Amazon’s low retail pricing and leading position among E-book retailers gave
rise to serious concerns for the Defendants and co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States.
First, the Defendants and co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States feared that, as E-books
sales grew larger in the future, Amazon would utilize its significant bargaining clout as the
leading E-book retailer to seek lower wholesale E-book prices.

24, In a robust E-books market, E-book only publishers could compete without
relying on the long-established distribution systems. E-book only publishers could enhance
consumer choice, meet consumer demand, and provide innovative distribution. Because of this,
the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States also feared that Amazon
would emerge as a direct competitor by contracting directly with authors to publish its own E-
books.

25. The Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States were
concerned that increased sales of E-books would reduce sales of higher-priced printed editions of
the same books.

26. Because of these concerns, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the

Plaintiff States, individually and collectively, began searching for a path to higher prices for



NYT bestseller -E-books.

27. Starting no later than summer 2008 and continuing throughout 2009 on a regular
basis, CEOs fepresenting the Big Six began having regular meetings to discuss sensitive business
matters, including concerns related to E-books and Amazon. No antitrust counsel attended any
of the meetings.

28.  Beginning in early 2009, some of the Defendants and other co-conspirators
known to the Plaintiff States considered, but did not adopt, alternative distribution models to
restrain retailers from discounting the price for sales of their E-book titles, including resale price
maintenance and minimum advertised price. None of the publishers were ultimately willing to
adopt such strategies unilaterally, because of the substantial risks to individual publishers of
acting alone.

29. By the summer of 2009, it was clear to all of the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States that only by working together could they successfully
force Amazon and other E-book retailers to raise their prices for NYT bestsellers. In the
absence of such collective bargaining power, Amazon could retaliate against individual
publishers by delisting their E-books and print books from its website. And if the Defendants
and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States failed to implement their new pricing
structure contemporaneously, each publisher would lose sales to lower-priced E-books because
the retail prices of its books would rise too high relative to the‘ retail prices of the others.

30. On information and belief, by no later than the end of summer 2009, the
Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States reached an agreement that
something had to be done to end Amazon’s $9.99 pricing of NYT bestsellers, and they were

collectively searching for the means to effectuate a price increase.



C. Windowing: The First Collective Attempt to Raise Prices

31. In 2009, certain E-book publishers shared information among one another about
which titles they would Window and their anticipated delay period for E-book publication. In
the fall 2009, the Defendants began experimenting with Windowing certain frontlist E-books.
And, by early December 2009, the Defendants agreed to Window a broad number of titles as a
means of gaining bargaining leverage over Amazon. By December 15, 2009, an additional
conspirator publisher agreed to join the Defendants in Windowing certain frontlist titles.

32. Windowing unilaterally would have been against each publisher’s economic self-
interest, because it would introduce substantial economic risks. But by agreeing to act together,
these risks were substantially reduced.

33. The Defendants and another co-conspirator known to the Plaintiff States broadly
Windowed E-book titles roughly from December 26, 2009 through April 1, 2010. The delay in
publication constituted an illegal restriction on output to the detriment of consumers.

34. As set forth below, the agreement among the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States to raise prices via the Agency Model made Windowing
unnecessary.

D.  The Defendants and Other Co-conspirators Known to the Plaintiff States Agree to
Raise E-book Prices Using the Agency Model

35. In mid-December 2009, Apple approached the Big Six about becoming an E-book
Outlet. Apple planned to release its iPad tablet computer in early 2010 and wanted to supply E-
books to iPad customers in its iBookstore.

36. The entry of Apple into the E-book market provided the Defendants and other co-
conspirator publishers known to Plaintiff States with a better means of implementing their

agreement to force up retail prices. Specifically, the Defendants and other co-conspirators



known to the Plaintiff States saw the opportunity to employ a distribution strategy known as the
“Agency Modei.” Under the Agency Model, a publisher would be the direct seller of E-books to
consumers, setting the retail price for each E-book sold. Under that model, the Outlet would act
as an agent to facilitate the sale and would receive a commission on each E-book sold through
the Outlet.

37. In January 2010, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff
States collectively agreed to enter into materially identical Agency Contracts with Apple, which
enabled the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States to establish the
retail price of books sold through the Apple iBookstore. Each of the Agency Contracts contained
what is colloquially known as a “most favored nation” clause (an “MFN”). The MFNs provided
that if a co-conspirator publisher allowed any other retailer to sell an E-book for a lower price
than the price set for Apple customers, it must also afford that price to Apple customers.

38.  The ineluctable result of the MFN was to require that any publisher who was a
party to the MFN convert all of its retailers to the Agency Model, so that none of them
(especially Amazon) would be able to discount retail prices below those specified in the Apple
Agency Contracts.

39. A move by a single publisher to convert all of its Outlets to the Agency Model
would have been against that publisher’s unilateral self-interest. Any single publisher would
have faced potential retaliation from Amazon. And, even if a single publisher succeeded in
adopting the Agency Model, it would not be able to raise prices without concern that consumers
would turn to other publishers’ E-books that the Outlets priced lower under a Wholesale-Retail
Model. The Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States would not have

agreed to the adoption of the Agency Model to raise prices but for the assurances that a sufficient

number of the other publishers would participate.
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40. Each of the Agency Contracts also contained an Exhibit A, which was focused on
customer pricing. Exhibit A provided an agreed-upon breakdown of what prices should be
offered to U.S. purchasers for all of the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the
Plaintiff States’ frontlist titles, including specifically NYT bestsellers. Through their
conversations with the conspirators, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the
Plaintiff States knew that they were all entering into Agency Contracts with materially identical
terms, including identical price bands, and that collectively, they would be able to raise retail E-
book prices to the levels specified in the price bands.

41.  Asthe date for the iPad launch approached in January 2010, the communications
among and between the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States
intensified. By January 27, 2010, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the
Plaintiff States had, through a series of communications among and between executives at the
highest levels of the companies who were parties to the contracts, agreed to the Agency Model.

42. Between January 27, 2010 and April 1, 2010, the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States converted the largest Outlets, including Amazon, to the
Agency Model. Starting in April 2010 and pursuant to their illegal agreement, the Defendants
and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff States generally raised retail prices of NYT
bestseller E-books from $9.99 to the $12.99 - $14.99 level. Contemporaneously, the Defendants
and other co-con'spirators known to the Plaintiff States also, on average, raised retail E-book

prices across frontlist and backlist books.
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E. The Defendants and Others Known to the Plaintiff States Police and Enforce
Their Agreement

43. Over the next four months, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the
Plaintiff States took steps to ensure that the anticompetitive agreement was implemented,
providing necessary material support and encouragement to a co-conspirator known to the
Plaintiff States, in its ultimately successful negotiations with Amazon. Subsequent to their own
shift to the Agency Model, the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff
States also worked together to pressure non-conspirator Random House to move to the Agency
Model, as it ultimately did.

44.  As a result of their illegal agreement, the Defendants and other co-conspirators
known to the Plaintiff States restricted output of E-books by charging consumers artificially high
retail prices. As a result, consumers have suffered millions of dollars in overcharges nationwide.

45. The Defendants withdrew from the conspiracy by no later than May 21, 2012, the
time at which the actions taken pursuant to the Proposed Final Judgment entered into with the
~ United States Department of Justice on April 11, 2012, relating to the conduct alleged in this
Complaint, became effective.

V. RELEVANT MARKETS

46. The relevant product market is the market for the sale of E-books. Hachette,
HarperCollins, Macmillan, Penguin, and Simon & Schuster are competitors in this product
market.

47. The relevant geographic market is the United States. Hachette, HarperCollins,

Macmillan, Penguin, and Simon & Schuster are competitors in this geographic market.
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VI. TRADE & COMMERCE

48. The activities of the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff
States, including the production, sale and distribution of E-books, were in the regular, continuous
and substantial flow of interstate trade and commerce and have had, and continue to have, a
substantial effect upon interstate commerce. The activities of the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States also had, and continue to have, a substantial effect
upon the trade and commerce within each of the Plaintiff States.

VIiI. MARKET EFFECTS

49.  The acts and practices of the Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the
Plaintiff States have had the purpose or effect, or the tendency or capacity, of restraining
competition unreasonably and injuring competition by preventing the competitive retail pricing
of E-books, and have directly resulted in an increase in retail E-book prices across both the
frontlist and backlist titles of the Defendants and other co-conspirator publishers known to the
Plaintiff States.

50. By preventing the competitive retail pricing of E-books, Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States have deprived the Plaintiff States and their consumers
of the benefits of the competition that the federal and state antitrust laws, consumer protection
laws and/or unfair competition statutes and related state laws are designed to promote, preserve,
and protect.

COUNTI

HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOQ RAISE E-BOOK RETAIL PRICES
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION I OF THE SHERMAN ACT

S1. Plaintiff States repeat and reallege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.

52. By no later than the end of summer 2009, Defendants and others known to the
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Plaintiff States entered into an agreement to work together to raise the NYT bestseller E-book
retail prices from the $9.99 price point.

53.  This agreement among and between horizontal competitors and others known to
the Plaintiff States to raise E-book prices constitutes a per se violation of Section 1 of the
Sherman Act.

54. In the alternative, the agreement between and among the Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States caused anticompetitive effects that substantially
outweigh any procompetitive justifications, if any exist. For this reason, under a rule of reason
analysis, the agreement is a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

COUNT II

HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TO RAISE E-BOOK RETAIL PRICES USING
WINDOWING IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

55.  Plaintiff States repeat and reallege every preceding allegation as if fuliy set forth
herein.

56.  In December 2009, Defendants and other co-conspirators known to the Plaintiff
States entered into an agreement to Window their frontlist E-books. The goal of this agreement
was to restrict frontlist E-book output in an attempt to cause retail E-book Outlets to raise
frontlist E-book prices. For this reason, the agreement among and between horizontal
competitors to raise E-book prices constitutes a per se violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

57. In the alternative, the agreement to Window among Defendants and other co-
conspirators known to the Plaintiff States caused anticompetitive effects that substantially
outweigh any procompetitive justifications, if any exiét. For this reason, under a rule of reason

analysis, the agreement is a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.
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COUNT 111
HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TO RAISE E-BOOK RETAIL PRICES
USING THE AGENCY MODEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SHERMAN ACT

S8. Plaintiff States repeat and reallege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

59. By no later than the end of January 2010, Defendants and other co-conspirators
known to the Plaintiff States entered into a horizontal agreement to use the Agency Model as a
mechanism to raise the retail prices for frontlist E-books. This agreement to raise E-book prices
among and between horizontal competitors and others known to the Plaintiff States constitutes a
per se violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

60. In the alternative, the purpose and effect of the agreement between and among the
Defendants and others known to the Plaintiff States to use the Agency Model to raise E-book
prices was to restrain competition between and among publishers in the market for direct E-book
retail sales to consumers. The agreement has caused anticompetitive effects that substantially
outweigh procompetitive justifications, if any exist. For this reason, under a rule of reason
analysis, the agreement is a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Accordingly, the Plaintiff States request that the Court:

1. Adjudge and decree that the Defendants have committed violations of Section 1
of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1;

2. Enjoin and restrain, pursuant to federal law, the Defendants, their affiliates,
assignees, subsidiaries, successors and transferees, and their officers, directors,
partners, agents, and employees, and all persons acting or claiming to act on their
behalf or in concert with them, from continuing to engage in any anticompetitive
conduct (including the conspiracies described herein) and from adopting in the

future any practice, plan, program or device having a similar purpose or effect to
the anticompetitive actions set forth above; and

3. Award treble damages for injury to natural persons under Section 4c of the
Clayton Act;
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4. Award the Plaintiff States the costs of this action, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs, as provided in Section 4¢ of the Clayton Act; and

5. Direct such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: August 29, 2012
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